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Outline for Presentation 

I. Innovation in Health Care Today Presents Antitrust Risks and Opportunities. 

A. Introduction. 

1. Among today’s innovations in health care are new ways to organize 
providers to jointly deliver health care. 

2. Competing hospitals are partnering with each other to jointly provide 
services. 

3. Hospitals are partnering with their physicians to jointly provide certain 
outpatient services, to avoid the total loss of certain outpatient revenues 
and the prospect of competing with physicians on their medical staff. 

4. Hospitals and physicians are partnering in the joint delivery and marketing 
of their services to managed care plans and self insured employers. 

5. Hospitals continue to hire physicians and seek to acquire otherwise 
independent physician groups within their markets. 

6. Hospitals seek mergers or similar affiliations with other hospitals, often 
their competitors. 

7. Some of these transactions and collaborations may increase competition, 
improve the quality and availability of health care and lessen its cost to 
patients (a positive outcome in the view of the antitrust laws). 

8. Some of these transactions and collaborations may reduce competition, 
and result in reduced availability of health care delivered at higher cost to 
patients (a risk in the view of the antitrust laws). 

B. Focus of Today’s Presentation – Clinical Integration. 

1. One of the more significant (and challenging) innovations in provider 
organizational structures being explored today is the clinical integration of 
hospital and physician services for the joint delivery and marketing of 
health care services. 

2. Clinical integration presents the opportunity to improve the quality and 
efficiency of health care through provider cooperation, but often requires 
an agreement among competitors on fees to make it work, creating the risk 
of antitrust law violations. 

3. Under the antitrust laws, competing providers may market themselves 
collectively using a common fee schedule if they either share significant 
financial risk, or are clinically integrated.  Absent either one, competing 
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providers may market themselves collectively only if they use the 
messenger model of marketing, which is at best an awkward marketing 
method. 

II. Antitrust Refresher and Update. 

A. Major Federal Antitrust Laws and Guidance. 

1. Sherman Act Section 1. 

i. Makes illegal every contract, combination in the form of trust or 
otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce.  
However Section 1 is not read literally.  Instead, the courts have 
divided challenged activities into the two categories described in ii. 
and iii. below. 

ii. Per Se Illegal Contracts.  Those contracts whose nature and 
necessary effect are so plainly anticompetitive that no elaborate 
study of the industry is needed to establish their illegality are 
deemed illegal per se under Section 1.  Examples generally include 
price-fixing, bid-rigging, and market allocation agreements among 
competitors. 

iii. Rule of Reason.  Agreements that restrain trade but that are not per 
se illegal under Section 1 are examined under the rule of reason, to 
determine whether the restraints on competition they impose 
outweigh the procompetitive effects of the agreement. Agreements 
deemed to unreasonably restrain trade, when examined under the 
rule of reason, are illegal under Section 1. 

2. Sherman Act Section 2. 

i. Prohibits monopolization and attempts to monopolize. 

ii. Unlike Section 1 of the Sherman Act, Section 2 does not require 
concerted action by two or more parties. 

iii. Monopolization requires that the alleged monopolist possess a high 
degree of market power, i.e. the ability to control price or exclude 
competition, and have engaged in anticompetitive conduct to 
acquire or preserve that power.   

iv. Attempts to monopolize occur when a person has engaged in (1) 
anticompetitive conduct with a specific intent to monopolize, (2) 
with some degree of market power, and (3) has a dangerous 
probability of achieving monopoly power. 
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v. The market or markets in which the alleged monopolist operates 
must be defined, both on a geographic and product basis.  

vi. Anticompetitive conduct is conduct often described as “predatory” 
or “exclusionary,” i.e. conduct that is economically irrational but 
for its adverse impact on competition or is otherwise unlawful.  
Examples of anticompetitive conduct include tying, certain 
exclusivity arrangements, predatory pricing, price squeezes, and 
refusals to deal. 

vii. Market power is often inferred from market structure indicators 
like market share and barriers to entry.  Market power can also be 
inferred from the conduct of a firm in a market.   

3. Clayton Act Section 7. 

i. Prohibits mergers and acquisitions where, in any line of commerce 
or in any activity affecting commerce, the effect of such 
acquisition may be substantially to lessen competition, or to tend to 
create a monopoly. 

ii. Certain collaborations between competitors, a joint venture 
between competitors for example, may be treated as an acquisition 
and tested under Section 7. 

iii. Horizontal mergers increase market concentration. 

iv. What is the relevant market, the market share of each competitor 
within that market before the transaction, and the market 
concentration resulting from the transaction? 

v. What are the likely anticompetitive effects of the transaction, and 
could other potential competitors enter the market to 
counterbalance those effects? 

vi. Section 7 imposes a balancing test that weighs the potential 
anticompetitive effect that might result from the merger, or 
competitor collaboration, against the prospect of integrative and 
other economic efficiencies that could result. 

4. Hart-Scott-Rodino. 

i. Requires a pre-transaction notice filing with the Department of 
Justice and the Federal Trade Commission of those mergers, 
acquisitions, or joint ventures meeting the tests noted below.  The 
antitrust division of state attorney generals also receives this notice 
and may review the transaction with the federal agencies. 
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ii. This provides an opportunity for the agencies that have antitrust 
enforcement power to review the proposed transaction before it is 
consummated, and act to stop the transaction before it occurs or 
impose certain requirements as a condition of allowing the 
transaction to proceed. 

iii. Size of Person Test.  One of the parties has sales or assets of at 
least $113.4 million and the other party has sales or assets of at 
least $11.3 million, or an acquiring person will hold an aggregate 
amount of stock and assets of the acquired person valued in excess 
of $226.8 million; and 

iv. Size of Transaction Test.  As a result of the transaction, the 
acquiring person will hold an aggregate amount of stock and assets 
of the acquired person valued at more than $56.7 million.  

5. FTC Act Section 5. 

i. Prohibits unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive 
acts or practices “in or affecting commerce.” 

ii. Conduct that violates the Sherman and/or Clayton Acts will also be 
prohibited under Section 5 of the FTC Act, under the same 
analysis.  However, Section 5 of the FTC act can be interpreted 
more broadly than the Sherman and Clayton Acts, and thus the 
FTC may both define and proscribe as an unfair practice even 
those activities that will not violate the Sherman or Clayton Acts.   

6. Agency Guidelines – Health Care Statements. 

i. Background.  In 1996, the Federal Trade Commission and the U.S. 
Department of Justice jointly issued their Statements of Antitrust 
Enforcement Policy in Health Care (Health Care Statements).  
They are designed to provide an analytical framework for the 
application of the antitrust laws to mergers, joint ventures, and 
other activities in the health care industry.  The Health Care 
Statements can be downloaded from the FTC web site at 
http://www.ftc.gov/bc/bchealthcare.htm. 

ii. Specific Statements.  The Health Care Statements include: 

Statement 1 – Mergers Among Hospitals; 

Statement 2 – Hospital Joint Ventures Involving High 
Technology or Other Expensive Health Care Equipment; 
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Statement 3 – Hospital Joint Ventures Involving 
Specialized Clinical or Other Expensive Health Care 
Services; 

Statement 4 – Providers’ Collective Provision of Non-Fee-
Related Information to Purchasers of Health Care Services; 

Statement 5 – Providers’ Collective Provision of Fee-
Related Information to Purchasers of Health Care Services; 

Statement 6 – Provider Participation in Exchanges of Price 
and Cost Information; 

Statement 7 – Joint Purchasing Arrangements Among 
Health Care Providers; 

Statement 8 – Physician Network Joint Ventures; and 

Statement 9 – Multiprovider Networks. This Statement 
contains an example of a physician-hospital organization 
involving substantial clinical integration that will not raise 
antitrust concerns. 

iii. Safety Zones.  Seven of the nine statements contain safety zones 
that describe conduct the agencies will not challenge under the 
antitrust laws, absent extraordinary circumstances.  No safety 
zones are provided for Hospital Joint Ventures Involving 
Specialized Clinical or Other Expensive Health Care Services or 
Multiprovider Networks, Statements 3 and 9. 

iv. Rule of Reason Steps.  Generally, the Health Care Statements 
outline a four-step process to be followed in analyzing transactions 
and arrangements under the rule of reason, as follows: 

Step 1 – Define the relevant product and geographic 
market, and then calculate the concentration of the 
participants in the market. 

Step 2 – Evaluate the competitive effects of the proposed 
transaction or arrangement. 

Step 3 – Evaluate the impact of potential procompetitive 
efficiencies, and whether such efficiencies could be 
achieved by less restrictive means. 

Step 4 – Evaluate collateral agreements that may 
unreasonably restrict competition and are unlikely to 
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contribute to the legitimate purposes of the proposed 
transaction or arrangement. 

v. Fee Surveys.  The Safety Zones described in Statements 5 and 6 
describe the manner in which independent health care providers 
may exchange price and cost information and collectively give fee-
related information to purchasers of health care services in the 
sales process without violation of the antitrust laws.   

Providers may collectively provide to purchasers of health 
care services factual information concerning the providers' 
current or historical fees or other aspects of reimbursement, 
such as discounts or alternative reimbursement methods 
accepted (including capitation arrangements, risk-withhold 
fee arrangements, or use of all-inclusive fees), if the 
collection of information to be provided to purchasers 
satisfies the following conditions:  

(1) the collection is managed by a third party (e.g., a 
purchaser, government agency, health care consultant, 
academic institution, or trade association);  

(2) although current fee-related information may be 
provided to purchasers, any information that is shared 
among or is available to the competing providers furnishing 
the data must be more than three months old; and  

(3) for any information that is available to the providers 
furnishing data, there are at least five providers reporting 
data upon which each disseminated statistic is based, no 
individual provider's data may represent more than 25 
percent on a weighted basis of that statistic, and any 
information disseminated must be sufficiently aggregated 
such that it would not allow recipients to identify the prices 
charged by any individual provider.  

The conditions that must be met for an information 
exchange among providers to fall within the antitrust safety 
zone are intended to ensure that an exchange of price or 
cost data is not used by competing providers for discussion 
or coordination of provider prices or costs.  

The safety zone does not apply to collective negotiations 
between unintegrated providers and purchasers in 
contemplation or in furtherance of any agreement among 
the providers on fees or other terms or aspects of 
reimbursement, or to any agreement among unintegrated 
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providers to deal with purchasers only on agreed terms. 
Providers also may not collectively threaten, implicitly or 
explicitly, to engage in a boycott or similar conduct, or 
actually undertake such a boycott or conduct, to coerce any 
purchaser to accept collectively-determined fees or other 
terms or aspects of reimbursement. 

Also excluded from the safety zone is providers' collective 
provision to each other of information or views concerning 
prospective fee-related matters.  The collective provision of 
this type of fee-related information may be helpful to a 
purchaser and, antitrust concerns can be avoided so long as 
independent decisions on whether to accept a purchaser's 
offer are truly preserved. 

vi. Messenger Model:  If a group of competing providers does not 
come within the scope of the joint venture exception to the 
antitrust laws, the providers may offer their services "jointly" via 
the messenger model.  It is important that the details of the 
messenger model be followed explicitly.  There are basically two 
types of messenger arrangements that appear to be used in practice.   

(a) First, in the classic model, the messenger: 

▪ receives offers from payers; 

▪ transmits (or “messengers”) those offers to 
individual participating medical practices for their 
individual acceptance, rejection or counteroffer; 

▪ reports the results of this process to the payer; and 

▪ may convey back-and-forth counteroffers and 
responses with individual medical practices but may 
not engage in negotiations on behalf of a group of 
competing providers. 

(b) In a second type of messenger model, the messenger 
possesses the power to contract with any payer who offers a 
price level higher than the standing offers the messenger 
has received from various medical practices.  The essential 
features of this model include: 

▪ the messenger receives a “standing offer” of the 
lowest acceptable prices each particular medical 
practice would be willing to accept; 
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▪ the messenger is granted the authority by the 
medical practices to accept offers above the 
standing offer prices; 

▪ the messenger exercises that authority to contract 
with any payer who offers that level of prices or 
higher. 

B. Recent Antitrust Cases Involving Hospitals.  

1. Exclusive Arrangements. 

i. Hospital’s Exclusive Agreement with Radiology Group.  A 
radiology group sued an Ohio hospital alleging that the hospital’s 
agreement with another radiology group to be the exclusive 
provider of radiology services constitutes a violation of Section 1 
of the Sherman Act as a contract that unreasonably restrains trade. 
The court granted summary judgment to the hospital, holding that 
the complaining physician group failed to demonstrate a relevant 
geographic market.  Nilavar v. Mercy Health Sys., No. 3:99cv612 
(S.D. Ohio July 5, 2005) 

ii. Exclusive Contract Between Hospital and Managed Care 
Organizations.  An independent ambulatory surgery center (ASC) 
sued a New York hospital claiming that the hospital had forced it 
out of business by sponsoring a physician boycott of the ASC and 
intimidating those physicians who chose to use the ASC, and that 
the hospital had entered into exclusive contracts with managed 
care companies, thereby reducing the number of patients for whom 
the ASC was an option.  The ASC claimed that the exclusive 
contracts violated Section 1 of the Sherman Act, and the hospital 
attempted to monopolize the ambulatory surgery market and 
engaged in predatory conduct by organizing a boycott by 
physicians of the ASC.  The court denied the hospital’s motion to 
dismiss the action on summary judgment, finding triable issues of 
fact.  Rome Ambulatory Surgical Ctr. v. Rome Mem. Hosp., 
349 F. Supp. 2d 389 (N.D.N.Y. 2004) 

2. Mergers and Acquisitions. 

i. FTC Permits Merger of Illinois Hospitals.  The FTC closed its 
investigation of the merger in 2000 of Victory Memorial Hospital 
and Provena St. Therese Medical Center, resulting in an operating 
venture known as Vista Health.  The FTC concluded that the post-
merger price increases of the merged entity were no higher than 
those at similar hospitals in the area, and that one of the hospitals 
had been pursuing a non-sustainable strategy and both had been 
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losing market share prior to the merger.  The FTC concluded that it 
could not find sufficient evidence of market power or harm to 
consumers resulting from the merger.  Statement of the FTC in the 
Matter of Victory Memorial Hospital/Provena St. Therese Medical 
Center (Fed. Trade Comm’n July 1, 2004). 

ii. FTC ALJ Orders Sale of Illinois Hospital Acquired in Merger.  On 
October 20, 2005, the FTC administrative law judge ruled that the 
2001 merger of Evanston Hospital and Glenbrook Hospital with 
Highland Park Hospital to form Evanston Northwestern Healthcare 
Corp. (ENH) violated Section 7 of the Clayton Act and ordered the 
divestiture of Highland Park.  The ALJ found that 
“contemporaneous and post-acquisition evidence establishes that 
ENH exercised its enhanced post-merger market power to obtain 
price increases significantly above its premerger prices and 
substantially larger than price increases obtained by other 
comparison hospitals.”  This ruling represents the FTC’s first 
victory under its “retrospective review” program, which the FTC 
implemented after numerous defeats in pre-merger review cases.  
Evanston Northwestern Healthcare Corp. and ENH Medical 
Group, Inc., FTC Dkt. No. 9315 (Feb. 10, 2004) 

3. Price-Fixing. 

i. Advocate.  In the Matter of the Arbitration Between United 
Healthcare of Illinois, Inc., and Advocate Health Care Network 
(American Arbitration Association, Nov. 18, 2005) is discussed 
below. 

ii. PHO Settles Price-Fixing Charges With The FTC.  The FTC 
charged Piedmont Health Alliance, Inc, a physician-hospital 
organization based in North Carolina, and ten of its physician 
members, with fixing physician prices in violation of Section 5 of 
the FTC Act.  The defendants agreed to a consent order to settle 
the case.  The consent order bars the PHO and the physicians from 
entering into any kind of negotiations with payors on behalf of any 
physician.  Frye Regional Medical Center, Inc., an acute care 
hospital that also belonged to the PHO, and its parent company, 
Tenent Healthcare Corporation, had earlier settled FTC charges 
against them concerning their role in facilitating the PHO’s price-
fixing.  In the Matter of Piedmont Health Alliance, Inc., et al., FTC 
Dkt. No. 9314 (Consent Order Aug. 11, 2004). 

iii. PHO Settles Refusal to Deal Charges With The FTC.  An FTC 
consent order resolved allegations of price-fixing by physicians 
and nurse anesthetists who belong to a New Mexico PHO that 
includes 84% of area physicians.  White Sands Health Care System 
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is barred from negotiating, refusing to deal, or setting terms for 
dealing with payors on behalf of its physician members and other 
providers.  The providers were accused of refusing to deal 
individually with health plans, failing to follow a lawful messenger 
model, and entering into contracts negotiated by its consultant, 
Dacite, Inc. on their behalf.  The arrangement resulted in higher 
fees with no beneficial impact on efficiency and consumer welfare.  
In the Matter of White Sands Health Care System, LLC; 
Alamogordo Physicians’ Cooperative, Inc.; Dacite, Inc., and 
James R. Laurenza,  FTC File No. 031-0135 (Consent Order Jan. 
14, 2005). 

iv. PHO Settles Price-Fixing Charges.  Partners Health Network, a 
physician-hospital organization in Pickens, South Carolina, settled 
FTC charges that it violated Section 5 of the FTC Act by 
orchestrating and implementing agreements among its members to 
fix prices and other terms on which they would deal with health 
plans, and to refuse to deal with such health plans except on 
collectively determined terms.  Partners Health Network consists 
of approximately 225 physicians, Palmetto Health Baptist Medical 
Center at Easley, and Cannon Memorial Hospital.  The physician 
members account for approximately 75% of the independent 
physicians practicing in the Pickens area.  The Network negotiated 
contracts using a physician fee schedule developed by surveying 
its physician members about the prices they would like to receive 
in managed care contracts. In the Matter of Partners Health 
Network, Inc., FTC Docket No. C-4149 (Sept. 19, 2005). 

v. PHO Warned That Proposed Clinical Integration Won’t Justify 
Joint Contracting.  Suburban Health Organization, Inc., based in 
Indianapolis, proposed a partial integration program and requested 
the FTC’s opinion on its compliance with the antitrust laws.  See 
discussion below.  Letter from David Pender to Clifton E. Johnson 
and William H. Thompson (Mar. 28, 2006) 

4. Other Hospital Cases. 

i. Antitrust Claims Of Physicians Against Hospital Dismissed.  
Arnett Clinic, a Lafayette, Indiana, physician group of 
approximately 155 physicians, abandoned plans to build a hospital 
that would compete with the dominant hospital in the market, 
operated by Greater Lafayette Health Services.  Arnett claimed that 
it was forced to abandon its plans based on Greater Lafayette’s 
conduct, which included termination of Arnett’s exclusive 
radiology services contract, termination of its contract with the 
HMO affiliated with Arnett, and its publicity campaign against the 
proposed hospital being build by Arnett.  The court dismissed 
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these claims, finding that Arnett’s proposed relevant geographic 
market excluded alternative hospitals that should have been 
included in the market and Arnett’s complaint lacked certain 
factual allegations that were necessary to an inference that 
defendant had sufficient monopoly power to justify the antitrust 
claims.  Arnett Physician Group, P.C. v. Greater Lafayette Health 
Servs., Inc., No. 4:05-CV-00016-AS (N.D. Ind. July 29, 2005). 

ii. Market Allocation.  Charleston Area Medical Center, Inc., located 
in Charleston, West Virginia (CAMC) and HCA Inc. signed a 
memorandum of understanding under which HCA agreed to refrain 
from developing a cardiac surgery program at Raleigh General 
Hospital in exchange for CAMC’s support of programs, including 
a cardiac surgery program, at two of HCA’s other hospitals. The 
U.S. Department of Justice sued alleging that the memorandum 
constituted a market allocation agreement between the two parties 
in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act.  CAMC has a cardiac 
surgery program.  Its most significant potential competitor for 
cardiac surgery programs would be the Raleigh General Hospital 
program were it to be approved by the West Virginia Health Care 
Authority.  The DOJ alleged that cardiac surgery programs at two 
other HCA hospitals would be less of a competitive threat were 
they to be approved.  The DOJ asserted that the memorandum of 
understanding would deprive patients, health plans, and employers 
of the potential benefits of competition for cardiac surgery that 
otherwise could occur between the Raleigh General Hospital and 
CAMC’s facility.  CAMC and the DOJ entered into a consent 
decree to settle the matter, which provided that CAMC may not 
enforce the memorandum of understanding. and any other 
agreement with any healthcare facility that allocates any cardiac 
surgery services, market, territory, or customer.  United States v. 
Charleston Area Med. Ctr., Inc., No. 2:06-091 (S.D. W.Va. 2006). 

iii. Attempted Monopolization.  Two independent diagnostic imaging 
centers with multiple locations brought suit against the Providence 
Health System-Oregon, Providence Health Plan and Providence 
Plan Partners (a PPO) (collectively Providence) alleging that 
Providence attempted to monopolize four diagnostic imaging 
markets (mammography, CT, MRI, and nuclear imaging) in 
violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act.  The plaintiffs asserted 
that Providence had attempted to monopolize by opening two 
freestanding diagnostic imaging facilities in joint ventures with 
independent radiologists, terminating contracts between plaintiff 
and the Providence health plan and PPO, and encouraging referrals 
within the Providence health system.  Although the court found 
that plaintiffs had raised a jury issue on whether Providence had 
engaged in anticompetitive conduct, it determined that plaintiffs 
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had failed to allege facts that there is a dangerous probablility of 
achieving monopoly power.  Providence’s market share in the 
relevant markets was more than the minimum 30% for attempted 
monopoly cases, but the court found that the plaintiffs had failed to 
show that there were significant barriers to entry by other 
competitors or that the existing competitors lack the capacity to 
increase their output should Providence attempt to charge 
supracompetitive prices.  Absent such a showing, Providence 
would not be in a position to control prices.  East Portland 
Imaging Ctr., v. Providence Health Sys. – Oregon, No. 3: 
05-CV-465-KI (D. Or. Mar. 21, 2006) 

iv. Economic Credentialing.  The Federal Trade Commission and the 
Department of Justice have said that “generally speaking, antitrust 
law does not limit individual hospitals from unilaterally responding 
to competition…by terminating physician admitting privileges…” 
See Report by the Federal Trade Commission and Department of 
Justice, Improving Health Care: A Dose of Competition, Ch. 3 at 
27 (July 2004).  The mere adoption of an economic credentialing 
policy, without more, is unlikely to establish antitrust liability. In 
fact, a recent consent decree expressly provides that a hospital 
under the facts of the consent decree may deny privileges to 
physicians by virtue of their financial interest in a competing 
health care facility.  See Commonwealth of Pennsylvania v. 
Central Pennsylvania Health Services Corp., Cir. No. 04-252J 
(W.D. Pa. 2004) (consent decree). An economic credentialing 
policy is presumably founded on an efficiency-based rationale, i.e. 
the prevention of free-riding by physicians with an economic stake 
in the success of a competitor, and as such, has a legitimate 
business justification apart from the suppression of competition.    

v. Full-System Contracting.  As hospital and physician systems grow 
in size and scope, payors are more likely to react unfavorably 
because they will lose leverage at the negotiating table. 

(a) Full system contracting defined as a situation where a 
hospital system demands that a payor include all system 
hospitals or other components in the payor’s network as a 
condition of including any of the system’s hospitals in its 
network. 

▪ requiring payors who want to contract with a 
desirable hospital to also contract with less 
desirable system hospitals (because less efficient, 
lower quality or lesser reputation); 
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▪ requiring the plan to also contract with physician 
networks or faculty groups, ASCs, home health 
agencies or other entities owned by or affiliated 
with the hospital system; 

▪ requiring plans to contract with the hospital or 
system for all its services; 

▪ requiring plans to include all system hospitals and 
all their services in the richest benefit tier (i.e., 
lowest copay for enrollees) of the plan’s products. 

(b) Ubiquitous, full-system contracting has not yet been 
meaningfully addressed by the courts, the DOJ or the FTC.  
However, a health system faces increased antitrust 
exposure if it attempts to force health plans to participate in 
full-system contracting.   

III. Joint Conduct by Competitors. 

A. The Risk.  The government views price fixing often as a per se/automatic 
violation of antitrust laws even when the providers believe they have good 
reasons to act collectively. 

B. Recent Cases.  Three recent cases illustrate the dangers price-fixing presents in 
physician and hospital joint ventures. 

1. North Texas Specialty Physicians (NTSP) FTC Dkt. No. 9312 – a case in 
which the FTC found no clinical integration and viewed the arrangement 
as price fixing. 

i. An association of independent physicians and physician groups (an 
IPA) in Fort Worth, Texas with 500 members, many of whom 
compete with one another. 

ii. On December 1, 2005, FTC affirmed an ALJ ruling stating that 
NTSP activities amounted to unlawful horizontal price-fixing in 
violation of § 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §1. 

iii. FTC ordered NTSP to cease and desist from the illegal conduct 
and to terminate pre-existing contracts with payors for physician 
services. 

iv. What was the illegal conduct?  NTSP negotiated and reviewed 
non-risk sharing contract proposals from insurers for its member 
physicians.  It polled its member physicians on minimum 
acceptable reimbursement rates, communicating results back to 
physicians and using the poll results to derive minimum acceptable 
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reimbursement rates on which it based its minimum contract 
prices.  In addition, NTSP had the right of first negotiation with 
payors and required physicians to forward to NTSP any payor 
offers they receive.  NTSP also obtained powers of attorney from 
many of its members that gave NTSP the authority to negotiate 
contracts on the providers’ behalf.  Finally, NTSP refused to deal 
and would threaten to terminate contracts as a bargaining tool. 

v. The FTC noted that if NTSP had included either financial or 
clinical integration in its arrangement, then its price setting conduct 
would have qualified for Rule of Reason treatment, rather than an 
“inherently suspect” analysis.  [In Polygram Holding, Inc. v. FTC, 
416 F.3d 29, 34 (D.C. Cir. 2005), the court upheld an FTC opinion 
regarding the use of an inherently suspect analysis because, 
according to the FTC, the U.S. Supreme Court has urged caution in 
applying a per se standard to a professional setting where the 
economic impact is not immediately obvious, and because IPAs 
have been shown to have potential procompetitive effects.] 

2. Advocate Health Care Network – a case that started out as a private 
dispute. 

i. Advocate is a Chicago health care system that owns eight hospitals 
and employs or is affiliated with over 2,500 physicians.   

ii. In 2000, Advocate entered into an agreement with United 
Healthcare of Illinois, one of the largest health insurers in the 
Chicago market, to provide United participants with physician 
services on a FFS basis.  In 2003, United and Advocate attempted 
to negotiate a new agreement, which Advocate characterized as 
“clinically integrated,” but negotiations broke down and Advocate 
terminated the agreement. 

iii. United filed its demand for arbitration, claiming that because 
Advocate contracts on behalf of competing physicians, the 
physician agreement and advocate’s later refusal to deal constitute 
per se violations of Section 1 of the Sherman Act. 

iv. On November 18, 2005, a panel of arbitrators denied United’s 
price fixing, market allocation and group boycott antitrust claims 
against Advocate. 

v. Although the panel agreed that Advocate did not qualify as a 
messenger model, under the Rule of Reason analysis, Advocate’s 
joint contracting with member physicians did not violate Section 1 
of the Sherman Act because it did not have the requisite market 
power (only 15% market share).  Case law supports the proposition 
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that a 40% foreclosure is likely an unreasonable restraint.  See 
generally, Rome Ambulatory Surgical Ctr. v. Rome Mem. Hospital, 
349 F. Supp. 2d 389, 410 (N.D.N.Y. 2004) (citing U.S. v. 
Microsoft Corp., 253 F.3d 34, 70 (D.C. Cir. 2001)). 

vi. Furthermore, the panel ruled that there was no per se price fixing 
violation because Advocate had presented sufficient evidence 
showing a clinically integrated program that had been offered to 
other insurers.  This program included utilization of a number of 
clinical protocols. 

3. Brown & Toland Medical Group FTC Dkt. No. 9306 – another case in 
which the FTC believed there was price fixing with no clinical integration.  

i. On July 9, 2003, the FTC issued an administrative complaint 
against Brown & Toland, a San Francisco based for-profit, 
multispecialty IPA with more than 1,500 members.   

ii. The complaint alleged that B&T organized a horizontal agreement 
under which its competing member physicians agreed collectively 
on the price and other competitively significant terms on which 
they would enter into contracts with health plans or other third-
party payors.   

iii. In addition, the FTC alleged that B&T directed its physicians to 
end their preexisting contracts with payors, required its physician 
members to charge specified prices in all PPO contracts and 
approached other physicians’ organizations to invite them to enter 
into similar price-fixing agreements.   

iv. Finally, the FTC contended that B&T’s PPO network was not 
clinically integrated and that B&T’s actions were not reasonably 
necessary to achieve potential clinical efficiencies for its PPO 
network. 

v. As a result, the FTC believed that B&T’s PPO network physicians 
were being paid at a higher rate. 

vi. In February 2004, B&T settled with the FTC.  The consent 
agreement required B&T, among other things, to notify the FTC at 
least 60 days prior to entering into any arrangement with 
physicians under which B&T would act as a messenger or agent on 
behalf of any physicians for any qualified risk-sharing joint 
arrangement with payors regarding contracts or the terms of 
dealing with physicians and payors. 

vii. On April 5, 2005, the FTC responded to a notice submitted by 
B&T pursuant to the consent agreement that concerned a proposed 
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clinically-integrated joint arrangement formed within B&T’s PPO 
product.  The FTC’s response allowed B&T to begin negotiating 
contracts with payors on behalf of its PPO network of physicians, 
as proposed under the clinical integration plan.   

IV. Antitrust Law Allows Joint Price-Setting in Certain Circumstances. 

A. Notwithstanding these cases, the antitrust laws do not prohibit joint price-setting 
by joint venture members when it is “ancillary” or necessary to make the joint 
venture work.   

1. Broadcast Music, Inc. v. Columbia Broadcasting System, Inc., 441 U.S. 
1 (1979) – under the rule of reason, a single, blanket license fee imposed 
by BMI, in which one fee was charged for use of thousands of musical 
compositions, was considered necessary to achieve the efficiencies 
inherent in the blanket licenses and the individual copyright holders were 
free to sell their licenses separate from the blanket licenses 
(nonexclusivity). 

2. Agreements between hospitals and physician groups that eliminate 
competition are automatically illegal, or “per se” illegal, unless the 
restraint on competition is subordinate and necessary to a legitimate 
transaction, in which case a court may review an agreement under the 
“rule of reason” analysis, taking into account the totality of the 
circumstances of the arrangement.   

3. Hospitals interested in collaborating with competitors can lower their 
antitrust risk by structuring agreements in accordance with antitrust laws 
and policy statements issued by the FTC and DOJ. 

4. The FTC has an Advisory Opinion process that allows providers to obtain 
an opinion that a proposed clinically-integrated plan would not be 
challenged.  

B. Applying the joint venture antitrust law, the FTC and DOJ have identified two 
preferred “joint venture” methods in health care: 

1. Financial risk sharing: 

a. Capitation plans; 

b. The interest in financial risk sharing has declined because: 

i. Capitated rates have become unremunerative; 

ii. Financial integration does not provide appropriate 
incentives for providers to cooperate with one another. 
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2. Clinical integration (discussed below). 

C. As summarized in a report published by the Federal Trade Commission and 
Department of Justice in July 2004 (Joint FTC and DOJ Report:  Improving 
Health Care:  A Dose of Competition (July 2004)), clinical integration usually 
includes three key components: 

1. Establishing mechanisms to monitor and control utilization of health care 
services that are designed to control costs and assure quality of care; 

2. Selectively choosing network physicians who are likely to further these 
efficiency objectives; and 

3. Making significant investments in capital, both monetary and human, in 
the necessary infrastructure and capability to realize the claimed 
efficiencies. 

4. Establishing that joint price-setting is an important aspect of achieving the 
efficiencies of clinical integration. 

D. Examples of techniques and programs to achieve clinical integration: 

1. Use of common information technology to ensure exchange of all relevant 
patient data; 

2. The development and adoption of clinical protocols; 

3. Care review based on the implementation of protocols; and 

4. Mechanisms to ensure adherence to protocols. 

V. Clinical Integration – The Opportunity. 

A. If hospitals and physician groups can establish a sufficient level of clinical 
integration, and the need for joint-pricing to support it, they may be able to 
negotiate prices jointly with insurers and other purchasers of health care.  Without 
clinical integration, the FTC will likely view such joint negotiation of prices as 
illegal price fixing.  

1. For many hospital and physician groups, the “messenger model” is 
ineffective for implementing successful clinical integration models. 

i. True “Messenger model” contracting does not violate antitrust 
laws.  Done properly, it consists of a neutral third party that 
collects provider fee information for purchasers of health care 
services.  US DOJ and FTC Statements of Antitrust Enforcement 
Policy in Health Care, Aug. 1996.   
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ii. However, many providers inappropriately implement the 
messenger model and wind up with major antitrust headaches 
(discussed above). 

2. Recent examples of clinical integration models: 

i. MedSouth 

(a) Involved a large number of participating doctors 
concentrated in a distinct area of Denver.  In a number of 
specialties, they accounted for more than one-half of the 
physicians with admitting privileges at three hospitals in 
South Denver. 

(b) On February 19, 2002, the FTC issued an Advisory 
Opinion approving the MedSouth clinical integration 
proposal.  FTC Staff Advisory Opinion Letter to John J. 
Miles, Esq., available at 
http://www.ftc.gov/bc/adops/medsouth.htm.   

(c) Program included integration of the provision and delivery 
of primary and specialty services in a coordinated fashion; 
the use of a clinical resource management program in 
practice protocols and oversight and reporting of 
physicians’ performance relative to pre-established 
benchmarks, so as to improve patient outcomes, decrease 
use of physician resources and provide MedSouth with a 
competitive advantage with respect to other physician 
practices in the area; and the ability to offer payers a 
network in which all physicians have agreed to participate 
and in which the physicians will work together to improve 
care and to compete with other physicians and physician 
groups. 

(d) MedSouth also proposed to negotiate jointly prices with 
health plans on behalf of member physicians.  However, 
the MedSouth network was non-exclusive, that is, 
physicians would not be precluded from participating in 
other contracting organizations or from contracting with 
payers independently.   

(e) This non-exclusivity arrangement appears to have been 
significant in obtaining the FTC’s forbearance from 
challenging the proposed arrangement. 

(f) In addition, close reading of the opinion letter suggests that 
the joint price-setting was necessary to create a network of 
doctors that agreed to accept referrals from other doctors in 
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the network at a price negotiated by each doctor with the 
network and then offered to payors.  Thus, the joint price-
setting was justified as necessary to ensure the continued 
participation of physicians or “some of the benefits [would] 
likely … [be] unrealized.”  MedSouth Opinion, at 6.   

(g) The MedSouth proposal also reduced antitrust risk by using 
a consultant to develop fee proposals and to negotiate with 
each prospective physician participant separately.  Id.   

ii. Suburban Health Organization (SHO) 

(a) SHO is an Indiana non-profit corporation with a 16-
member board, staff of 45 full-time equivalents and a $7.9 
million operating budget to undertake risk-based contracts 
with health plans and other payers of health care services. 
The FTC deemed SHO a "super-PHO," consisting of seven 
local physician-hospital organizations in the Indianapolis 
area, each affiliated with a local hospital and one multi-
facility health system. The eight member hospitals of SHO 
employ a total of 192 primary care physicians who practice 
medicine at their respective hospitals. 

(b) In a March 28, 2006 Advisory Opinion, the FTC rejected 
SHO’s proposed clinical integration model because it did 
not view the proposal’s exclusive agent and price-fixing 
components as reasonably necessary to create more 
efficient delivery of health care.  

(c) According to the proposal, SHO would have acted as the 
physicians’ exclusive agent for negotiating non-risk 
contracts with large regional and national managed care 
plans. SHO would have set uniform fees for all medical 
services performed by the employed primary care 
physicians because, it argued, the clinical integration 
program qualifies as a new product that is inextricably 
linked to all medical services provided by the physicians 
and creates interdependency among them. However, SHO 
would have allowed each member hospital to market the 
services of its employed primary care physicians 
independently to small local employers and some small 
managed care plans. In addition, SHO hospital members 
would have:  1) jointly developed practice protocols and 
disease-specific treatment parameters regarding a limited 
set of medical conditions (such as asthma, cardiovascular 
disease, congestive heart failure and diabetes); 2) 
centralized collection and use of data to monitor physician 
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behavior and outcomes with respect to the treatment 
protocols; 3) jointly produced educational materials; and 4) 
agreed to have their employed primary care physicians 
abide by the common practice standards through a jointly 
funded bonus pool to reward desirable behavior and results. 

(d) The FTC analyzed SHO’s proposed plan and found that it 
would be an unlawful restraint on competition for two 
primary reasons:  1) although the FTC recognized that the 
plan might achieve some limited efficiencies, the FTC 
failed to see significant interdependence among the hospital 
and physician members. The ability to share some program 
implementation costs and clinical data among SHO 
members did not outweigh SHO’s inability to explain how 
it would encourage the physicians to work collaboratively 
as a group or why the joint negotiation of fees was even 
relevant to the clinical objectives; 2) the FTC believed that 
the proposal’s limited scope would undermine SHO’s 
ability to achieve the program’s efficiencies, noting the 
small number of medical conditions to be addressed and the 
lack of any specialist physician participants. The FTC 
viewed SHO’s proposed clinical integration program as a 
mere enhancement of medical services within each member 
hospital that did not require joint price setting or exclusive 
dealing but instead could operate sufficiently under a 
messenger model.  

VI. Elements of a Successful Clinical Integration Model. 

A. In comparing and contrasting the various FTC opinions and documents, one can 
glean the following information when trying to structure a successful clinical 
integration program: 

1. The program includes physicians from most major medical specialties; 

2. The joint contracts between providers are not exclusive (member 
physicians can contract on their own with payers who do not contract 
through the program); 

3. The participating physicians include independent specialty physicians who 
are not employees of a participating hospital; 

4. The program includes data management systems that allow for extensive 
data collection, information sharing and utilization review; 

5. There is substantial interaction and interdependence among the 
participants, such as member physicians serving on committees for clinical 
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and administrative services, jointly developed care plans for certain 
patients and established referral patterns among participants;  

6. There is some central authority that monitors physician compliance with 
the program; 

7. There is evidence of provider investment in the program.  That is, the 
providers have put in time and effort into the program’s development and 
have obligations once the program is operational; and 

8. There are tangible methods for measuring success of the program (i.e., 
ways to measure improvements in quality and/or efficiency). 

B. Recommended action items. 

1. Identify clinical goals. 

i. The network should identify the clinical goals and activities it will 
undertake; 

ii. The network should specify how these goals and activities are 
different from what each physician already does individually; 

iii. In identifying clinical goals, the network should focus on 
improving clinical performance in areas that are important to the 
provider’s customers (patients, the government and private health 
plans, and employers who pay directly for services); and 

iv. The clinical integration program should include oversight, 
correction and enforcement mechanisms to ensure providers 
adhere to clinical goals.  Examples include credentialing 
physicians prior to their joining the network and regularly 
reviewing their delivery of clinical care. 

2. Identify how providers expect to accomplish clinical goals. 

i. The network should identify the infrastructure and investment 
needed to accomplish the clinical goals; 

ii. The network should specify the mechanisms it must put in place to 
make the clinical integration program work; and 

iii. The network should identify the specific measures that will be used 
to determine whether the clinical integration program is in fact 
working. 

3. Identify the basis for believing providers will accomplish stated clinical 
goals. 
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i. The network should create internal financial incentives to provide 
rewards or penalties to providers based on the extent to which they 
have met pre-established performance goals.  The existence of 
financial incentives may increase the likelihood that physicians 
will actively participate in the clinical integration program; and 

ii. The network should brand itself as a distinct entity.  The act of 
branding increases the extent to which performance of each 
physician in the network implicates and affects other physicians in 
the network, thereby incentivizing them to improve each others’ 
practices. 

4. Identify the results that reasonably can be expected. 

i. The network should identify specific, measurable achievements in 
cost control and quality achievement that should result from the 
clinical integration program.  For example, physicians in clinically 
integrated networks may achieve scale and scope of efficiencies 
that enable them to be more cost-effective and permit them to 
deliver a broader range of services; and 

ii. The network should also identify any evidence that supports the 
types of results it is expecting.  Examples of such evidence include 
empirical evidence or actual experiences. 

5. Identify how joint contracting contributes to accomplishing clinical goals. 

i. The network should think about and identify how joint pricing is 
necessary to accomplishing its clinical goals. 

6. Determine whether it is necessary (or desirable) for physicians to affiliate 
exclusively with one IPA or whether they can effectively participate in 
multiple entities and continue to contract outside the group. 

i. The network should be able to articulate its justifications for 
exclusivity, if any. 

VII. Practical Considerations for Dealing with the FTC/DOJ. 

A. The FTC is most concerned about joint price setting (especially IPAs that 
compete with one another. 

B. FTC is very skeptical of clinical integration. 

C. Seeking an FTC advisory opinion is long, expensive process. 

1. FTC will evaluate all details of proposal. 
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2. FTC not impressed with clinical protocols as part of clinical integration 
proposal. 

3. Expose organization’s operations to the government.  May lead to other 
inquiries. 

4. Risk exposes organization’s ideas to the public. 

D. Upsides to seeking an advisory opinion. 

1. Favorable FTC Advisory Opinion organization wards off future scrutiny 
but does not provide antitrust “immunity.” 

2. Forces organization to fully think through and develop proposal. 

3. Helps further develop guidance in the antitrust area. 

E. Going ahead without seeking an Advisory Opinion. 

1. More efficient. 

2. Antitrust risk higher. 

3. Stable of possible complainants. 

4. Structured properly, risk likely to be manageable. 
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